

6/2/2016

Page 1

STATE OF MICHIGAN
DETROIT BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS
REGULAR MEETING

PAGE 1 TO 52

Taken at 1301 Third Avenue, Media Room,
Detroit Public Safety Headquarters,
Detroit, Michigan, 48226,
Commencing at 3:04 p.m.,
Thursday, June 2nd, 2016,
Before Elizabeth Koller, CSR-7042.

1 APPEARANCES:
2 CHAIRPERSON LISA CARTER
3 VICE CHAIRPERSON WILLIE E. BELL
4 COMMISSIONER EVA DEWAELSCHE
5 COMMISSIONER REGINALD CRAWFORD
6 COMMISSIONER WILLIE E. BURTON
7 COMMISSIONER DERRICK SANDERS
8 COMMISSIONER BISHOP EDGAR VANN
9 COMMISSIONER ELIZABETH BROOKS
10 COMMISSIONER RICHARD SHELBY
11
12 MS. LINDA D. BERNARD (P24740)
13 Appearing on behalf of the Detroit Board of Police
14 Commissioners.
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

1 Detroit, Michigan

2 June 2, 2016

3 About 3:04 p.m.

4 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Good afternoon. Welcome
5 to the weekly Board of Police Commissioners meeting.

6 My name is Lisa Carter, Chair for the Commission. At
7 this time I'm going to call the meeting to order and
8 ask Commissioner Vann if he'd please do the invocation.

9 (Invocation.)

10 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you, Commissioner
11 Vann. At this time, Madam Attorney Bernard, would you
12 please call the roll?

13 ATTORNEY BERNARD: Thank you, Madam
14 Chairperson. Lisa Carter?

15 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Present.

16 ATTORNEY BERNARD: Willie E. Bell?

17 VICE CHAIR BELL: Present.

18 ATTORNEY BERNARD: Elizabeth Brooks?

19 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Present.

20 ATTORNEY BERNARD: Commissioner Willie E.
21 Burton?

22 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Present.

23 ATTORNEY BERNARD: Reginald Crawford stepped
24 out, Madam Chair. Ms. Eve Dewaelsche?

25 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Present.

1 ATTORNEY BERNARD: Derrick Sanders?

2 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Present.

3 ATTORNEY BERNARD: Richard Shelby?

4 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: Present.

5 ATTORNEY BERNARD. Edgar Vann, II?

6 COMMISSIONER VANN: Present.

7 ATTORNEY BERNARD: Madam Chairperson, you
8 have a quorum of nine.

9 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Okay. Did you say
10 Commissioner Moore?

11 ATTORNEY BERNARD: Not Commissioner Moore.
12 I'm sorry, Commissioner Moore is excused and
13 Commissioner Mallett is excused. I didn't call their
14 names, but they are excused.

15 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you.

16 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Commissioner
17 Crawford, present.

18 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you. At this
19 time, I'd like to introduce Chief Craig. Thank you,
20 sir, for joining us.

21 CHIEF CRAIG: Thank you, Madam Chair.

22 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: And is there any staff
23 you would like to introduce that's here with you?

24 CHIEF CRAIG: Just looks like Third Deputy
25 Chief. Anybody else? Everybody's at another meeting.

1 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Okay. Thank you. And
2 Attorney Bernard, could you introduce the rest of the
3 Board of Staff.

4 ATTORNEY BERNARD: Yes, Madam Chairperson.
5 Ms. Gale Oxendine, the Director of Police Personnel is
6 sitting in the first row, Ms. Pamela Davis-Drake, the
7 Chief Investigator from the Office of the Chief
8 Investigator, sitting to the right; with her is
9 Mr. Lawrence Akbar who is a Supervising Investigator
10 from the Office of the Chief Investigator, Mr. Robert
11 Brown, the Administrative Assistant to the Board is to
12 my right, our recorders today are Sergeant Alan Quinn
13 from DPD, Ms. Elizabeth Koller is the court reporter
14 from Hanson Court Reporting Services, and the
15 proceedings are being recorded by Media Services,
16 specifically Mr. Marcel Goodan and Mr. Christopher
17 Mosley from Media Services, and this Commission Meeting
18 will be broadcast tomorrow morning on Channel 10 at
19 10:00 a.m.

20 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you, Attorney
21 Bernard.

22 ATTORNEY BERNARD: You're welcome.

23 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: At this time,
24 Commissioners, you have before you the Agenda for
25 Thursday, June 2nd. Is there a motion to approve the

1 agenda?

2 COMMISSIONER VANN: So move, Madam Chair.

3 VICE CHAIR BELL: Support.

4 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: It's been move and
5 supported that we approve the agenda. Is there any
6 discussion? Those in favor?

7 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

8 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Those opposed? Motion
9 carries.

10 At this time, you have the Minutes,
11 Commissioners, from Thursday, May 26th. Is there a
12 motion to approve the Minutes from May 26?

13 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Amendment.

14 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Amendment? Okay.

15 COMMISSIONER BURTON: The amendment is I
16 noticed the minutes, it doesn't, the minutes does not
17 reflect my excused absence from the previous meeting.

18 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Okay.

19 COMMISSIONER VANN: Madam Chair, I move for
20 adoption of the Minutes with necessary correction.

21 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Support.

22 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: It's been moved and
23 supported that we approve the Minutes with the
24 amendment as reported by Commission Burton. Is there
25 any discussion? Those in favor?

1 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

2 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Those opposed? The
3 motion carries.

4 VICE CHAIR BELL: Madam Chair, just for a
5 point, the last meeting was May 26th?

6 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Yes.

7 VICE CHAIR BELL: Says here, Willie E.
8 Burton, District 5, excused.

9 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Does not reflect inside
10 the minutes here.

11 VICE CHAIR BELL: Oh, the minutes. Okay. I
12 thought we just used that format as the format. No?

13 ATTORNEY BERNARD: This is the format we use.

14 VICE CHAIR BELL: This is the format we use.

15 COMMISSIONER VANN: It's part of the record.

16 VICE CHAIR BELL: It's part of the record
17 that when you have the roll call you're absent or
18 excused. This reflects part of the Minutes.

19 Anyway, we can move on.

20 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Through the Chair.
21 Previous it used to be in the body here of the minutes.
22 Not just up here where it says excused up here. It
23 used to reflect that down here. Thank you, sir.

24 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you.

25 VICE CHAIR BELL: No problem.

1 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: So today I have to
2 report out, I don't know if I ever mentioned to you,
3 Commissioners, that a couple -- a month ago, Chief
4 Investigator Drake arranged for us to be able to park
5 on the third floor because when we park in the parking
6 structure on the sixth floor, whatever it is, it's
7 usually no parking, I mean, no parking spaces
8 available.

9 So we can now park on the third floor and
10 come into that door and there are fewer cars parked on
11 that so you'll have a closer parking space if you chose
12 to come in that way. So, thank you, Chief Investigator
13 Drake for getting that done.

14 And the second thing, the Board Secretary,
15 his start date will be June 14th. He is defending his
16 dissertation and he will be available June 14th, so
17 that will be his start date.

18 And that's all I have to report today. And
19 at this time we're going to have the HR monthly report.

20 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Good afternoon, Gale
21 Oxendine, Director of Police Personnel, for the record.
22 In your packet you have your report for the month of
23 May 2015. Under Current Department Staffing we have
24 2,294 positions filled that are sworn, 343 civilian
25 base, and 212 civilian restructuring. Under Sworn

1 Recruiting, the number of people in process continues
2 to be a good number for us to move forward with our
3 goal of hiring on a monthly basis. We've hired 187 to
4 date for the fiscal year of 2015/16.

5 We hired just on May 31st this week 37 new
6 recruits that started. So that was a great
7 accomplishment for us this month. The impulse testing,
8 we are now administering both the written examination
9 and the physical agility exams. You see the numbers
10 here of the number of people that we tested for both
11 types of exams and those that passed.

12 This has really been the game changer in us
13 being able to get recruits more quickly, and more
14 quickly and also more quickly through the process.

15 In terms of total new hires, 37 sworn,
16 eleven civilians, three police assistants, and six
17 restructuring civilians for a total 57 for the month of
18 May.

19 On page two of those new hires, six of these
20 civilian new hires are Detroit residents, seven of the
21 sworn new hires are Detroit residents. With respect to
22 the Student Internship Program, we have a final list of
23 31 students. They will begin on Monday, June the 6th.
24 It's a ten-week program, they'll work 32 hours a week,
25 and then their Coffee and Cake Graduation will be held

1 on Wednesday, August the 10th. And I'll give you some
2 future updates on that as we get closer to the date
3 because we'd like for the Commissioners to attend that
4 event.

5 With respect to attrition this was a pretty
6 good month for attrition. We only lost twelve sworn in
7 the month of May and we gained 37, so we're 25 ahead,
8 so that was a significant jump for us. Civilian
9 attrition is eight, police assistance, one, and
10 civilian restructuring, two, for a total of 23.

11 You have your leave of absence numbers in the
12 various categories. With respect to Special Projects
13 phrase three of the restricted duty project is on
14 target to begin in July of 2016. The Summary Report
15 for FMLA is included in your packet, read it at your
16 leisure. I'll be happy to entertain any question that
17 you might have about that.

18 And also, the sworn promotional exam, the
19 results of the appeals process and the final results of
20 the exam are expected this month in June. And that
21 concludes my report and I'll take your question at this
22 time.

23 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commissioners, questions
24 for Director Oxendine?

25 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Through the Chair.

1 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commissioner Sanders?

2 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: When it comes down to
3 the -- testing, and I see over here you had ten that
4 failed the reading test and 24 failed the physical
5 test.

6 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Yes.

7 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Are they able to take
8 that over or not?

9 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: They can take the exam
10 over. The physical agility we allow one additional
11 test at our costs. With respect to the written exam
12 they will have to take the written exam at their own
13 cost. So they're able to take it again but they won't
14 be able to take it through our process.

15 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: And one other
16 question, when you fail, you fail, even if you fail by
17 one, correct?

18 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Yes. It's a state
19 administered, I mean, it's a state examination so we
20 don't set the guidelines for that. They do. We just
21 administer the test under the guidelines that they
22 provide. So the written test is an online test so it's
23 scored the next day by the administrators. We actually
24 are just the test proctors and we provide the facility
25 and also address any computer issues that may occur

1 during the testing process.

2 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Okay. Thank you.

3 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Any other questions,
4 Commissioners?

5 COMMISSIONER VANN: Madam Chair, I just
6 wanted to make sure I'm getting this right. You have
7 37 sworn and you have only seven of them are Detroit
8 residents?

9 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: For this month, for the
10 month of May, that's correct.

11 COMMISSIONER VANN: Oh, for the month of May?

12 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: That's correct.

13 COMMISSIONER VANN: And you normally chart
14 Detroit residencies?

15 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Yes, sir.

16 COMMISSIONER VANN: When they come in?

17 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Uh-huh.

18 COMMISSIONER VANN: Do you have, so then do
19 you have numbers on how many of our Officers are
20 Detroit residents?

21 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Yes, sir. You requested
22 that information and I submitted that information to
23 the Board.

24 COMMISSIONER VANN: Okay.

25 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: If you'd like for me to

1 provide that information monthly in this report, I can
2 do so.

3 COMMISSIONER VANN: Okay. I just think that
4 it's an important metric. If, for this month, for
5 example, what's that, less than 20 percent? So I just
6 think it is important.

7 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Okay. So in the future
8 I'll provide you like a month ending date, the number
9 of Detroiters both sworn and civilian versus the
10 numbers we have, positions we have filled. Would that
11 be helpful?

12 COMMISSIONER VANN: For me, yes. Thank you.

13 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Sure.

14 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Any other questions?
15 Commissioner Bell?

16 VICE CHAIR BELL: Yes, Madam Chair. You
17 indicated that the feedback of scores on the overall
18 assessment would be now in the month of June, this
19 month?

20 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Yes.

21 VICE CHAIR BELL: Could you notify us? I
22 encountered several Officers during Police Week in
23 reference to what's promised last month and whatever,
24 so would you notify us when those scores go out? I
25 assume mid June or whenever, month of June. I got it.

1 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Month of June.

2 VICE CHAIR BELL: Thank you. I got it.

3 Okay.

4 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Certainly.

5 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commission Crawford?

6 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, ma'am, through
7 the Chair. I just thank you, Madam Director. I
8 received an email from you and it was to the Board of
9 Police Commissioners, all of us, assume all of us did
10 on May the 11th, 2016 that's pertaining to the
11 residency of percentages.

12 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Yes.

13 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, ma'am. So I
14 just want to make the Commission and I'll be glad to
15 give Commissioner Vann a copy of it also.

16 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Okay. Thank you.

17 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you.

18 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Through the Chair?

19 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commissioner Burton?

20 COMMISSIONER BURTON: I have a question. For
21 the past six months, how many Officers have we brought
22 on since January?

23 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: I don't have that figure
24 with me at this time but I can provide you with that
25 information.

1 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Thank you.

2 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Any other questions,
3 Commissioners? I have one question, Director Oxendine.
4 You said, you alluded to one test was on, I'm speaking
5 to the MCO's physical agility test.

6 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Yes.

7 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: So for all applicants we
8 give them one free agility test. Is that what you're
9 saying?

10 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: We give them either one
11 rescheduled, if they fail to appear or if they're
12 unsuccessful we give them another opportunity.

13 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Okay. So is that for
14 all the applicants whether they live in the City or
15 not?

16 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Yes, that's for anyone
17 that's in that stage of the process.

18 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Okay. Thank you.
19 Commissioner Crawford?

20 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, ma'am. How is
21 that incentive program, the \$250 referral? How is that
22 going?

23 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Up until this last class
24 we had only hired I believe the number is four people
25 who had been referred. So you have to refer the

1 candidate and the candidate has to be hired in order
2 for the member to receive the referral incentive.

3 This past month I believe the number is seven
4 or eight in this one class. So I'm going to assume
5 it's growing. We get a lot of referrals but they're
6 not successful in getting hired or they drop out of the
7 process or whatever the case maybe. But the ones that
8 actually make it to the finish line we've had a total
9 of about eleven or twelve at this time.

10 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes. Thank you. And
11 the one I referred is in this class and he is a Detroit
12 resident, but you don't owe me any money.

13 (Laughter.)

14 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Thank you for the
15 referral, sir.

16 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you, Director
17 Oxendine. Chief Craig, thank you and the floor is
18 yours.

19 CHIEF CRAIG: Thank you, Madam Chair, Board.
20 I want to report out on crime and then I want to talk
21 about a specific, certainly tragic incident involving
22 the 13-year-old boy.

23 Year-to-date we're sitting at a six percent
24 reduction in overall crime which includes both violent
25 and property offenses. Violent crime is down five

1 percent. When we look at homicides we're slightly up
2 three percent. In terms of raw numbers we're at
3 115 homicides year-to-date compared to 112 in 2015. So
4 we're showing a three percent increase.

5 When you look at nonfatal shootings we're up
6 one percent. This is probably the lowest we've been
7 for the year. Raw numbers at 2016 we had 356 compared
8 to 352. Again, overall violent crime is down five
9 percent. Robberies continue to be the steepest
10 reduction. When you look at robberies year-to-date,
11 we're down ten percent; carjackings are down
12 30 percent. So we continue to see a steep decline
13 there.

14 I just wanted to make note, I know there was
15 discussion. Last week I was in New York for Major City
16 Chiefs. Some good news. And while I recognize that
17 when you look at our overall crime numbers we still --
18 I can't certainly wave a flag of success. Progress,
19 yes.

20 When you look at the last three years we're
21 still trending down. When you compare Detroit to other
22 major cities, the majority of them factually we're
23 declining compared to last year's stats. Now, you
24 heard me report out that Detroit's experiencing some of
25 the lowest homicide numbers over the last two years

1 2015/2014 in 47 years.

2 Again, I can't get excited over that because
3 per capita our numbers are still too high. However, I
4 will tell you that when I look at numbers I will use
5 the numbers as a road map, if you will, as where we
6 need to go, where the trends and patterns are
7 occurring, that does not mean that we wave this flag of
8 success.

9 When Los Angeles experienced deep reductions
10 in crime; New York, did not happen overnight. I meet
11 many in the community and what I hear almost daily that
12 they feel something is different in the City of
13 Detroit. They feel safer.

14 But when you talk about that one victim who
15 experiences a robbery or loses a child, certainly they
16 don't feel safe. And as I've often times said one
17 homicide is certainly one too many, one shooting is one
18 to many. Let's face it, when you look at some of the
19 most horrific offenses, since Easter you had five
20 children shot. Two of them are non-fatal. So those
21 individual events certainly drive fear.

22 Now any suggestion that this Police Chief or
23 this Police Department is padding the numbers is
24 incorrect, incorrect. I take full responsibility and
25 accountability for making sure that the numbers are

1 correct. And my staff knows, and I know Deputy Chief
2 Levalley who oversee our investigation function
3 including gathering our data knows that I consider it
4 serious misconduct to manipulate and manage the
5 numbers. There is no black hole. There is none.

6 It's a part of my job very seriously and I
7 report out crime stats to at least show this is where
8 we are year-to-date. We're in the second quarter of
9 the year and the fact that we're still down is a good
10 sign but certainly the work continues.

11 So I just wanted to go on the record make
12 that point clear that I consider it a serious
13 misconduct anybody on my team manipulates any of these
14 numbers. I take credit that we are transparent. It's
15 important the public knows whether we're up or whether
16 we're down even if it's one or two percent. Doesn't
17 mean I'm sitting here saying we're successful and we
18 can put our feet up.

19 Detroit Police Department works extremely
20 hard, the men and woman. We have fewer than when I had
21 when I started three years ago, but yet when you look
22 at the work that's being done whether it's though
23 neighborhood Police Officers, Green Light Initiative,
24 things are getting done.

25 Our response time is cut, our clearance rate

1 for homicide is about at the national average. Again,
2 I'm not flying a flag of success. So I just want the
3 record to reflect we take it serious and we work hard.

4 So I want to thank our team for the work you
5 do and our realtime crime certainly under the
6 leadership of Deputy Chief Levalley who has done
7 phenomenal work in driving or investigative support
8 forward as well as making sure that the data that we
9 put out is accurate.

10 As you all know the 9th Precinct has been the
11 source of the most violent crime in the City of
12 Detroit. This year were sitting on homicides
13 21 percent reduction in the 9th Precinct compared to
14 last year and non fatal shooting a 55 percent reduction
15 in non fatal shootings. Again, the work continues but
16 that's good news because we are starting to move in the
17 right direction. So I just wanted to make that point
18 clear.

19 The second issue involving the tragic death
20 of the 13-year-old. As many of you who have been
21 following the news, this certainly started out as what
22 appeared to a missing, it progressed into an abduction,
23 an armed abduction. It was at that point that we
24 launched a full-blown command post. We put imagines
25 out to the media as quickly as we could.

1 Just in putting it in the total context of
2 the work, we have over a hundred sworn Police Officers
3 including DPD, MSP, FBI working here literally around
4 the clock. In fact, one member of our team,
5 Lieutenant Cole who had work in excess of 24 hours,
6 it's his birthday, committed to trying to find this
7 young man and certainly arrest the suspect involved in
8 this. So I really want to take my hat off to the
9 commitment and dedication.

10 And then as we continue to progress through
11 our investigation it led us into the state of Ohio,
12 Toledo so we have a support of about 30 additional law
13 enforcement between Toledo Police Department as well as
14 the Ohio FBI Office in that region. So a lot of
15 support.

16 Tragic that we did find the little boy. I
17 have since talked to his mother. You know, when you
18 look at the videotape that we had to review our team
19 reviewed 14 hours of videotape so they could identify
20 who was responsible for this horrific act.

21 As you know, we arrested two. The main
22 person we put out in the media. We immediately started
23 getting tips from that. We certainly took into custody
24 a female who is in his company who we arrested also in
25 the state of Ohio. There was a third and a fourth

1 suspect we put out. The third suspect is currently in
2 custody. We're still look for a fourth suspect. So
3 the investigation is ongoing.

4 But, again, I want to applaud the phenomenal
5 work by Detroit Police Department and our partners from
6 the MSP, FBI. But that work is continuing. So you may
7 have some questions about that, I'll entertain that.

8 Before I open it up for questions, we are
9 planning, this predates this rash of shootings
10 involving children but we have a Youth Peace Summit
11 which we invite everyone from the Board to attend at
12 Chene Park. I don't have a specific date yet, trying
13 to lock that down, but it's going to be at the end of
14 June at Chene Park, we're going to have some
15 entertainment.

16 In fact, the video that's gone viral now we
17 had probably in excess of eight million views, has gone
18 international. In fact, I know that Director Oxendine
19 talked about recruitment. On of the things that video
20 has done for us that after that video was shown we had
21 a significant interest from probably our younger
22 population in wanting to become Police Officers. So
23 that's worked out very well for us, so we're excited.
24 So we'll have a reenactment of that during the Youth
25 Summit.

1 As you may have heard me report out the Blue
2 Pigs are being reestablished, a volunteer group of Blue
3 Pigs, and also another youth-based group, volunteer
4 Police Officers called Blue Swag and we'll probably get
5 some other entertainers that will be at this Youth
6 Peace Summit.

7 And then lastly, before I open up for
8 questions, we're planning an executive retreat probably
9 at the Detroit Yacht Club probably some time this
10 month. I haven't set a date. I wanted to invite the
11 Board to attend that if they have an opportunity.

12 So with that, I open it for any questions
13 that you might have or comments?

14 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commissioners, do you
15 have any questions or comments?

16 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Yes, I have one.

17 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commissioner Brooks?

18 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: I watched the news this
19 morning and, you know, watched everyone on there. Has
20 it been, how can I put this? Have they decided that
21 that body is the body the young boy? Because the news
22 today did not say.

23 CHIEF CRAIG: We certainly given the
24 information we retrieved from our investigation there's
25 a high probability, but the family has since

1 identified. The news is now reporting that that's the
2 13-year-one son, Devonte.

3 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Thank you.

4 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Any other questions or
5 comments, Commissioners? Commissioner Vann?

6 COMMISSIONER VANN: Madam Chair. To the
7 Chief, I've heard you mention before about, you know,
8 some of the emotional and psychological weight that is
9 placed on Officers when they are responding to heinous
10 crimes of this nature.

11 And I would appreciate you just speaking to
12 that. There's a human side to law enforcement because
13 that I think a lot of times people don't think of, and
14 the Officers that serve us so well are human beings.
15 They have families. They have children many of them.

16 And I just think that there's a human side to
17 this. I can only imagine how many of the Officers and
18 there's case after case after case and these different
19 kind of occurrences taking place.

20 Would you just speak to that portion of it as
21 well and what the Department may be doing to help
22 Officers as well?

23 CHIEF CRAIG: Through the Chair. I
24 appreciate the question. Certainly that's something
25 that's very serious to me. One thing that I notice

1 coming into Detroit, unlike the other Police
2 Departments I had the fortune of leading and being a
3 part of, that more of our Officers experience trauma.

4 We talk about PTSD, that I know in Los
5 Angeles anytime an Officer was suffering from PTSD they
6 generally were deployed in a war situation would
7 return. But what I have seen in Detroit and I've seen
8 some of the Officers suffering. So one of the things I
9 noticed early on is that there's no peer support. And
10 so in every Department I worked there was peer support.

11 So we launched probably now over a year ago
12 peer support for our Officers so that any Officer
13 experiencing any kind of trauma whether seeing a child
14 that's been traumatized or some other horrific event,
15 we don't assume the Officer's okay. We make an effort
16 to make available to them resources whether it's
17 through a doctor or just simply peer support.

18 As you know, any time an Officer's involved
19 in a shooting incident they have to go for an
20 evaluation and some of our Officers have been in
21 multiple shootings situations.

22 Now the good news here, as I've said many
23 times before, is that, you know, we have an extremely
24 supportive community here in Detroit. Our Officers are
25 not experiencing the same degree of what we hear and

1 read and see as it relates to other Police Departments
2 like Baltimore, a lot of the anti-police rhetoric that
3 is permeating this county today.

4 Here in Detroit what we see and what feel is
5 the vast majority of Detroiters are highly supportive
6 of the job that Police Officers do. I personally as
7 well I can speak for all the Officers appreciate that
8 kind of support.

9 Of course, there are those instances where
10 some of that anti-police rhetoric that does have an
11 impact. Especially when Officers are out giving their
12 all. Imagine even taking this situation involving this
13 13-year-old, where just a week ago another child, five
14 children, think about the Officers that have to go to
15 the scene.

16 One the reasons we decided to launch a peer
17 support effort was that as many of you may remember
18 probably a year or so ago a case in 7th Precinct
19 involving the mother who placed two children in the
20 freezer. The responding Officers were directly
21 impacted by that. And so first thing I thought peer
22 support. But we didn't have peer support. We do have
23 it how.

24 So we not only have peer support, we
25 certainly enhanced our relationship in working with the

1 clergy. As a matter of routine now clergy leaders do
2 respond out. Not only do they meet with the Officers
3 who have been exposed to trauma-like situations, but
4 they also meet with community members who have been
5 have exposed to trauma. So it's a big concern. I will
6 continue to lead that effort and enhance it. But we
7 are, you know, obviously moving in the right direction
8 along those lines.

9 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Any other questions or
10 comments, Commissioners?

11 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: I have a comment on
12 that. I think it was sometime last year, I think it
13 was prior to you and a few Commissioner coming on
14 board, sir, Commissioner Vann, I'm talking to. The
15 peer support group did a presentation before us.

16 As a matter of fact, I recall one of the
17 Officers that is a part of that team is the one that
18 was stabbed in the face or slash in the face on the
19 Westside involving an incident with a woman in a vacant
20 house or something to that effect. So they did a
21 presentation and it was great. I appreciated it. It
22 did have the appearance that it was going to be a great
23 success so I think it is.

24 CHIEF CRAIG: Through the Chair, Commissioner
25 Crawford, I appreciate that. It really has. I think

1 we have roughly fifty members now. Most of the
2 Officers have been involved are Officers who had been
3 involved in Officer involved shootings. They
4 understand the trauma associated with that.

5 You may also know that we started a CITI Camp
6 now going in how we treat trauma as it relates to our
7 youthful citizens, I'm talking about middle school age.
8 We started CITI Camp here in Detroit, and acronym for
9 Children In Trauma Intervention because like our Police
10 Officers like many of our adults, are children are
11 suffering from being exposed to trauma.

12 It is not normal, it's not for a child to
13 experience the level of violence in some of our
14 neighborhoods. So that's why it so important that we
15 intervene and especially Police Officers are involved
16 in that effort because it really separates us.

17 We just graduated a class of 50 two weeks ago
18 and the thing that most of those students reported out
19 is they felt when they started the program they were --
20 they didn't like Police Officers. Each and everyone of
21 them said we love the Police, we see a different side
22 of the Police. And so just in that alone has made a
23 difference in building bridges in our youth community.

24 VICE CHAIR BELL: Yes, Madam Chair. Chief, I
25 reported out -- first of all, I want to thank you for,

1 you know, you're outstanding work in the last 24 hours.
2 I attended the 5th Precinct Community Meeting and
3 Commander -- hearing and Commander Bettison were not
4 there but the MPOs they was at the command post and
5 community was pleased in terms of action. Because I
6 live not too far from that area, east Warren and Outer
7 Drive. And so I appreciate the work in the 9th
8 Precinct. We have witness declined in terms of those
9 types of activities so all the effort went into it is
10 working.

11 One of the questions came up in terms of
12 reporting out. Any feedback on Operation Ceasefire in
13 terms of the young people that encounter? The
14 program's been in existence two or three years, and is
15 there any feedback in terms how success -- how ever you
16 measure that, you know, I don't know.

17 CHIEF CRAIG: Through the Chair. I would say
18 yes, we can give you full report out. I will tell you
19 that when I arrived here three years go I had had great
20 experience with the Ceasefire model in other cities,
21 Cincinnati, in particular. I was not involved in the
22 press with Ceasefire here in Detroit. It was actually
23 kind of comical in my view. It has grown.

24 One of the things that I see that works very
25 well with Ceasefire now especially as we transition

1 from the eastside now to the Westside and we've already
2 started some of what we call the disruption work. I
3 actually had a chance to go out to one location
4 yesterday on the Westside where we go out and meet with
5 individuals who are prone to engage in violence.

6 So the Officers are engaged. They believe in
7 Ceasefire. I would tell you when I look at the double
8 digit reduction in shootings and homicides on the
9 eastside, the Mayor and I both believe that Ceasefire
10 has been a direct result of that for that success.

11 You know, one thing that is very different
12 about our Ceasefire effort here unlike any city I've
13 been in, including Los Angeles, this is the only city
14 where the Mayor has been directly involved, I know
15 you've attended some of the call-ins, who is directly
16 involved and committed to, you know, giving the
17 promise, if you will. And I really believe when you
18 have a U.S. Attorney, the Police Chief, the Mayor of
19 the City, that goes a long way in really sending a
20 message that we're serious about peace.

21 So I'm excited as we move to the Westside and
22 we're certainly not going to let the eastside go
23 because we know how important per capita crime on the
24 eastside are still somewhat high. I know that's
25 another effort, another day.

1 A.C. Wies, D.C. Levalley, really are doing a
2 phenomenal job not only, you know, driving, keeping the
3 stats because we do look at Ceasefire stats. So if you
4 would like us to do a Ceasefire presentation where we
5 go into very specific statistics we can do that.

6 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: We would very much
7 appreciate that. In fact, the inquiry has been made in
8 the past but we never received updates --

9 CHIEF CRAIG: Okay.

10 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: -- as to who takes
11 advantage of what's offered at the program and the
12 participants that go back to jail or whatever, whatever
13 stats you can provide that will be helpful.

14 CHIEF CRAIG: What we can do, through the
15 Chair, Deputy Chief Levalley can we make that available
16 for next session?

17 D.C. LEVALLEY: Yes.

18 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you, Chief. Any
19 other additional comments?

20 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Madam Chair, if I
21 may?

22 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commissioner Dewaelsche.

23 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: I've been a Detroit
24 resident all my life and I've said this before at other
25 meetings, I am just amazed at the expediency or how

1 quickly the Detroit Police Department is resolving
2 these cases. So I want to commend you. I do feel a
3 lot safer. And I know when you say, "Turn yourself in
4 because we're going to get you." I believe it. It
5 always happens. So thank you for that.

6 But I do have a question as it relates to
7 children being involved in these shootings, of late.
8 Are we evaluating the incident and looking to see if
9 there are any common threads?

10 And the reason why I say that is because even
11 among people that I work with and I talk with, we're
12 wondering is there like a retaliation that maybe people
13 have with other people and they're either purposely
14 like shooting when they know there are children are
15 around or is coincidental? Or I don't know, it just
16 seems out of, you know, the normal for children to be
17 involved.

18 And so, are we evaluating that? Do we see
19 anything in common or is it just coincidental that
20 we've had so many recently?

21 CHIEF CRAIG: Through the Chair. I can tell
22 you in 39 years this month I never seen this anywhere
23 in any city. I mean, even in a city like Los Angeles,
24 we have very structured, very organization gangs and
25 during the height of LA the gang shootings 2,000

1 murders a year, I don't know the time where a child was
2 targeted.

3 What I have seen of late and I've talked to
4 members of my staff because they have not seen this,
5 clearly, if you're engaging in a walk-by or drive-by
6 shooting there have been several instances I've
7 reported out that the suspect knew or should have known
8 children were present and fired in the direction of
9 their target knowing that there was a strong
10 possibility of children.

11 Without going in details of this most recent
12 incident, this adult male, this violent predatory
13 suspect, someone I refer to as a coward, knew he was
14 dealing with a child. Make no mistake, this was a
15 13-year-old young man. And so there was no mistaking,
16 it was purposeful in my view and so some of it is just
17 that. I don't have a good answer for you but that is
18 something that we look at it.

19 It's one thing to engage in a drive-by or
20 walk-by shooting and you shoot into a crowd like you
21 saw on Dexter and Webb a year ago in the park where
22 there were children and families enjoying the summer
23 and the persons who decided to shoot, children were
24 present, it just didn't matter.

25 And so when you talk about the difference of

1 say a Los Angeles, that's just something you don't do.
2 So, but here there have been suspects. And I've said
3 it and I appreciate the acknowledgment. First, I want
4 to give all the credit to the men and women who do the
5 work because they do a phenomenal work. I'm fortunate
6 to lead such a great Department.

7 But, you know, when you look at these
8 situations you really, it's sometimes difficult to
9 understand why would a grown person take on a
10 defenseless child or someone who's defenseless who's
11 elderly. Where's the reverence for life?

12 And so the thing that we must continue to do
13 and, again, once, I have tremendous confidence and
14 faith in this City because when we put the images out
15 and when I say that we will find you, we will get you,
16 generally we do. It happened within 24 hours last
17 night.

18 People respond to that and people know that
19 this is a child, and I know who did that and they talk
20 to us despite the stigma people say, well, Detroit has
21 a no snitching. That's not true. It's absolutely
22 untrue.

23 Now, maybe among criminals they won't snitch
24 on each other. But the good Detroiters, the average
25 Detroiters makes up the vast majority of this City,

1 they will call us and they do.

2 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you.

3 CHIEF CRAIG: You're welcome.

4 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Any other questions or
5 comments, Commissioners? Commissioner Sanders?

6 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: No. Only comment,
7 through the Chair, I would say they do an excellent job
8 period. Even in my own case where I live at
9 Precinct 2, you're doing an excellent job, excellent
10 job.

11 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you. Thank you,
12 Chief.

13 CHIEF CRAIG: Thank you.

14 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Are there any Standing
15 Committee Reports?

16 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Through the Chair --
17 we're going to fine tune some issues and make a
18 recommendation to the Board at a later date.

19 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Okay. Thank you.

20 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Madam Chair, also as
21 one who sits on the Citizen Complaint Committee, last
22 week there were two citizens, well, there was one
23 citizen that came before us and she did file a
24 complaint. She's from my District. There was another
25 complaint. I received a call from Commission Moore

1 because this other citizen called Commissioner Moore
2 and referred it to me and she filed a citizen
3 complaint.

4 So I just want to go on record to state that
5 any citizen that I advise to file a citizen complaint,
6 that I will not personally review that complaint.
7 Because that's what we do. We read and review
8 complaints. Just so there's no appearance of any
9 conflict of interest or improprieties, anything like
10 that.

11 So I will personally will not read any
12 complaint that I tell -- regardless as to whether or
13 not they live in my District or not. If I advise the
14 person to file a complaint, I probably would not review
15 that complaint.

16 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you, Commission
17 Crawford. Is there New Business? Any Old Business?
18 Under Announcement our next Board of Police
19 Commissioners Meetings will be Thursday, June 9th, 2016
20 at 6:30 p.m. in the 4th Precinct at the Southwest
21 Public Safety Building, located at 4700 West Fort
22 Street.

23 Our next Board of Police Commissioners
24 Community Meeting will be July 14th, 2016 at 6:30 p.m.,
25 in the 10th Precinct at a location to be determined.

1 At this time we'll have Oral Communications
2 from the audience. Please give your name and limit
3 your comments to two minutes, please.

4 MS. PANNELL: Good afternoon. Sharon
5 Pannell. I'm from Detroit Police Citizen Academy.
6 We're having a picnic on July the 13th and we're
7 inviting the Board and the Police Officers. It's free,
8 Chief. And I just need a head count of who's going to
9 come. It's from noon at Shelter 8 at Belle Isle.
10 You're welcome.

11 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Okay. Thank you,
12 Ms. Pannell.

13 MS. BUTLER: Good afternoon.

14 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Good afternoon.

15 MS. BUTLER: My name is Fredia Butler, and I
16 am a community activists and also a counselor and also
17 the secretary from the Second Precinct Community
18 Relations Council.

19 I hope we all are watching the review or new
20 version of Roots and think in terms of what is
21 happening today. Education which is very important,
22 gentrification and jobs and to dissect what is going on
23 in the film today.

24 But last week I promised that I was going to
25 bring you some information what I'm hoping that we can

1 have throughout the City because this is a flier that a
2 gentleman in Southfield helped me, I gave him the
3 information, and so I'm not that computer savvy where
4 put the designs and what have you on it and he did it
5 for me.

6 And I would like AmeriCorps who attends our
7 meeting for COMPSTAT at the 2nd Precinct on the second
8 Monday of every month, they have promised they would
9 make copies and get them out to the community, but
10 they're not going to do it in color because color you
11 know is more costly but they will do it in black and
12 white.

13 And I feel that if we have a cleaner
14 community that we will have less crime because a clean
15 community you feel differently about yourself, and
16 therefore it needs more than, we all have to work
17 together, the Police Department, everybody has to work
18 together to try to make a difference to make a change
19 of minds in our communities. So I will give you each a
20 copy of this so you can see the kind of work that I
21 would like to see done in our community.

22 And Bishop Vann, through the Chair, Bishop
23 Vann has the kind of voice that I would like to -- we
24 need the research and use that type of voice because an
25 official was telling me about Rap.

1 But in the classroom you need to lower the
2 voice, lower the tempo in order to get their attention
3 and get the results that you need and not the hyper,
4 you know, when Rap is lot of hyper and all this going,
5 but you need that calming effect to get some results.
6 But like I said, that type of voice and the research, I
7 think we can get big change in our communities. Thank
8 you.

9 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you, ma'am. And I
10 do work with the AmeriCorps Urban Safety Project, so
11 I'll make sure they copy and disbursed those leaflets
12 for you. Thank you, ma'am.

13 MS. BURTON: Oh, great. I'll see them on
14 Monday.

15 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you.

16 MR. KOWALSKI: Good afternoon, Commissioners.

17 COMMISSIONERS: Good afternoon.

18 MR. KOWALSKI: My name is Gary Kowalski. I
19 am the owner of Tri-County Towing. Just give you a
20 brief history. I started my company when I was
21 20 years old, got on the police list 1971, been towing
22 all these years.

23 We had a little glitch in our company. We
24 got behind on our administrative fees. Our tow permit
25 was denied. The reason I'm here today I have the funds

1 available to bring us current. I just need a one-day
2 extension. I can get it paid tomorrow. The Police
3 Department has said it's in your hands as long I get
4 the fees paid.

5 We just had some financial difficulties where
6 we got behind. We got a good record with the City.
7 Small company, we got about twelve people employed.
8 Been in the City all our life. So I'm requesting that,
9 you know, the Commissioners will grant that extension
10 because they have the power to do that and I can have
11 the ad fees to you by tomorrow morning.

12 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: If Officer --

13 OFFICER MYERS: Myers.

14 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Myers.

15 OFFICER MYERS: Good afternoon, Board.

16 COMMISSIONERS: Good afternoon.

17 OFFICER MYERS: Mr. Kowalski --

18 SPEAKER: Can you give your name?

19 OFFICER MYERS: I'm sorry, Officer Myers,
20 Detroit Police Department, Resource Management for Tow
21 Detail. He's owned Tri-County Tow for awhile and he
22 was on our -- he had prior permit. When we were going
23 through the process of renewing the permits, Tri-County
24 Tow had not paid the admin fees from, it stopped
25 January 2015 was the last payment made.

1 Payments are to be made every month on the
2 15th of the month for the prior month. So January's
3 payment would be February 15th; February's payment
4 would be March 15th, and so on.

5 Well, we hadn't received a payment for
6 16 months and I have an amount that would be owed but
7 it's an estimate, and it's an estimate, it's an
8 estimate based on what was paid in one month and that
9 estimate was \$66,000.

10 The admin fees fluctuate up and down per
11 month depending on how many cars that you tow. So
12 66,000 it would could be plus five to \$10,000, it could
13 be 76 or 56 that's owed. We don't know. Finance would
14 have to get all that together. But the permit was
15 denied because of the non payment for the length of
16 time.

17 Now, the season for the permit, the time for
18 the permit is closed. I did let him know that and I
19 cannot -- the problem with served -- well, the problem
20 we would have with him coming back in after paying
21 these fees is there's other people that would want in
22 as well. He's not the only company that had this
23 issue. And if he just pays the fees and comes back in
24 then what about the other companies? It would open up
25 a bag of worms, but.

1 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: So Deputy Chief
2 Washington, what is the recommendation of the
3 Department?

4 D.C. WASHINGTON: I would agree. Celia
5 Washington. I would agree with Officer Myers. The
6 period of application for accepting applications has
7 closed and Officer Myers, I believe gave notice prior
8 to the denial and there are other towers would be in
9 similar situation to reopen.

10 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: All right. Thank you.
11 Commissioners?

12 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Through the Chair.

13 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commissioner Sanders?

14 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: One minute. I would
15 go on the recommendation of the two Officers and the
16 Chief, Deputy Chief on not renewing his license.

17 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: His permit?

18 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: His permit.

19 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Is there a motion?

20 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Pass a motion.

21 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Is there support?

22 VICE CHAIR BELL: Support.

23 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: It's been moved and
24 supported that we not renew the permit for this towing
25 company. Is there any discussion? Those in favor?

1 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

2 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Those opposed? Any
3 abstentions? The "ays" have it. Thank you.

4 MR. KOWALSKI: Thank you for your time.

5 MR. GOVENDER: Good afternoon. John Govender
6 from Red's Towing Service. And I've been towing for
7 the City for a long time. And yesterday I found out
8 that I was taken off the rotation because of nonpayment
9 of administrative fees and when I turned in my
10 application the Treasury Department gave me a clearance
11 and I thought I was all paid up and then when I
12 contacted her I found out that she said that I wasn't
13 on the list so that's why they thought that all my fees
14 were paid.

15 If I knew that my fees weren't paid I would
16 paid it long before this time, you know, just asking
17 for the opportunity to take care of the fees or -- with
18 the Treasury Department and see if I can get put back
19 on the rotation.

20 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Officer Myers, do you
21 want to respond to this at all?

22 OFFICER MYERS: Yes, ma'am. With the
23 Treasury Department, of course I received the spread
24 sheet, I wish I had it with me. I was here for another
25 meeting and stayed after just for this. With this

1 spread sheet I have all -- at that time 24 towers and
2 their payments to the Treasury Department for
3 2015/2016.

4 Red's Tow had no payments whatsoever for 2015
5 and all of 2016. We had no information for 2014. And
6 Treasury informed me that they didn't even have Red's
7 Tow on the list for as a City authorized tower. So it
8 was never any payments received from Red's Tow for the
9 administrative fee. And, yes, he was towing for the
10 Police Department.

11 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: So he was towing for the
12 Police Department but they were not on the list?

13 OFFICER MYERS: They didn't have him on the
14 list for 2014.

15 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Okay.

16 OFFICER MYERS: 2015, I talked to Treasury
17 and let them know he was on this list and never
18 received any type of payment whatsoever from him.

19 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: They never received any
20 payment?

21 OFFICER MYERS: Correct.

22 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Okay. Deputy Chief
23 Washington?

24 D.C. WASHINGTON: Celia Washington. Just for
25 clarification, in this instance I would have some

1 concerns as to why this particular tower was never on
2 the list of authorized towers. I do understand that
3 Officer Myers did reach out to Finance to advise them.

4 And I had a conversation with this gentleman
5 at our 1:30 meeting. All the towers know that they
6 have to pay the \$75, that's the City of Detroit's
7 money. This gentleman said that he had some accounting
8 issues, some miscommunications with his accountant and
9 he said that he has proof that he did pay.

10 Now, if that, in fact, is the case that he
11 did pay these fees and they were misappropriated or put
12 into the wrong account, that's a little bit different
13 from the prior individual.

14 So if he can provide proof of payment that
15 those fees were made from 2015 to present, then we'll
16 come back before this Board.

17 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Okay. Thank you.

18 COMMISSIONER VANN: Madam Chair?

19 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commissioner Vann?

20 COMMISSIONER VANN: Just for a point of
21 reference, I remember the towing presentation that was
22 given to us and I just want to make sure that I'm clear
23 on administrative fees. The administrative fees are
24 taken by the tower initially with the tower with the
25 responsibility of paying the fees from money that

1 they've already collected. Am I correct?

2 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: That's correct.

3 OFFICER MYERS: You're 100 percent correct.

4 COMMISSIONER VANN: Meaning that if the tow
5 is \$100 and the fee is \$25 and they keep \$75
6 hypothetically, then the tower already has the \$100?

7 OFFICER MYERS: Correct.

8 COMMISSIONER VANN: And out of the \$100 that
9 they have collected from the customer is owed the
10 administrative fees?

11 OFFICER MYERS: Yes, and I'll just give you
12 amounts. It's \$215.00 for the tow, \$125.00 goes to the
13 tow company, \$125, \$75 that's collected by the tow
14 company goes to the City, the other \$15 is for the
15 first day of storage. They also charged \$15.00 per day
16 of storage that the vehicle was on the lot.

17 When that money is collected \$75 is supposed
18 to go to the City per car. So when they collect this
19 money it should be paid by the 15th of the next month.

20 COMMISSIONER VANN: Right. So I just wanted
21 to be clear about that. I thought I had the right
22 understanding.

23 OFFICER MYERS: Yes, you do.

24 COMMISSIONER VANN: And I just want to make
25 sure that, I mean, that the towing companies are

1 apprised of what their responsibilities are knowing
2 that when they, when a car leaves their lot they don't
3 allow the car to leave the lot without somebody paying?

4 OFFICER MYERS: Oh, that's correct.

5 COMMISSIONER VANN: If the car has left the
6 lot, I make the assumption someone has paid, I also
7 make the assumption that whatever is owed to the City
8 they already have it in their coffers.

9 OFFICER MYERS: Correct.

10 COMMISSIONER VANN: And they also have their
11 costs, which is not the majority of the money, but they
12 also have the costs that are concerning the tow itself,
13 including the City's money, which as I remember the
14 presentation that you and your Department made you all
15 don't have any power to make them pay other than the
16 agreement that you have with them. In other words, you
17 don't automatically take the money out of what they
18 received.

19 OFFICER MYERS: No.

20 COMMISSIONER VANN: It's their responsibility
21 to make sure that they are taking care of the City per
22 tow.

23 OFFICER MYERS: Yes.

24 COMMISSIONER VANN: I just wanted to make
25 sure, I mean, and I knew we would have a number of tow

1 companies coming in after that presentation after we
2 were told just exactly what, you know, you needed to do
3 with some who had not pay paid their fees. And I just
4 wanted to be clear, I want the rest of the
5 Commissioners to be clear this is money that the towers
6 already have.

7 OFFICER MYERS: Yes, yes.

8 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you, Commissioner
9 Vann for making it clear.

10 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Madam Chair?

11 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commissioner Sanders?

12 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: I'd like to make a
13 motion that Red's Towing --

14 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: We're going to come
15 back. We going to give them an opportunity to prove
16 that they've made the payments.

17 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: If not?

18 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: If not, yes. So we'll
19 give them two weeks, so we'll put it back on the agenda
20 for two weeks from today.

21 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Be thankful.

22 MR. GOVENDER: Thank you.

23 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commissioner Crawford,
24 I'm sorry, did you have something to say?

25 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Not really. I just

1 wanted to thank Commissioner Vann for making it plain,
2 making it plain.

3 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you. Any other
4 Oral Communications?

5 MR. TRATT: Good afternoon, Commissioners.

6 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Good afternoon.

7 My name is Ian Tratt and I am representing an
8 organization called Children of Confidence. One of our
9 key focuses is to upgrade the communities and just more
10 regular community youth especially in the neighborhoods
11 and --

12 ATTORNEY BERNARD: Excuse me, Madam Chair.
13 Say his name and who's --

14 MR. TRATT: Ian Tratt, and Children of
15 Confidence, I'm just out of here in Detroit.

16 ATTORNEY BERNARD: Thank you.

17 MR. TRATT: And we mentioned about Operation
18 Ceasefire. I was curious to know if there are any
19 other organization or any initiatives that the City and
20 the Detroit Police Department is either activity
21 collaborating with or interested in seeing more in
22 terms of what the landscape of peace building
23 initiatives throughout different parts of Detroit look
24 like right now? I'm not sure I said that in a clear
25 sentence.

1 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Okay. Try it again.

2 MR. TRATT: Okay. Well, what organizations
3 or initiatives aside from Operation Ceasefire have been
4 close collaborators with the City of Detroit in helping
5 stabilized neighborhoods and communities or are there
6 any that --

7 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Well, the Chief
8 mentioned earlier CITI Camp. I know that he mentioned
9 that.

10 Are there any others that you know of,
11 Commander Sims?

12 COMMANDER SIMS: Youth Summit.

13 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Youth Summit.

14 D.C. WASHINGTON: Madam Chair, we can put him
15 in touch with Commander Bettison.

16 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Sounds good. Thank you.

17 MR. TRATT: Thank you.

18 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: All right. Any other
19 oral communications from the audience? Any other oral
20 communications? Any oral communications?

21 Is there a motion to adjourn?

22 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: So move.

23 COMMISSIONER VANN: Supported.

24 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: It's been moved and
25 supported that we adjourn. Those in favor?

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

CHAIRPERSON CARTER: The motion carries.

Thank you for all coming out this afternoon.

(The meeting concluded at 4:04 p.m.)

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

CERTIFICATE OF NOTARY

STATE OF MICHIGAN)
) SS
COUNTY OF WAYNE)

I, Elizabeth Koller, Certified Shorthand Reporter,
a Notary Public in and for the above county and state,
do hereby certify that the above hearing was taken
before me at the time and place hereinbefore set forth;
were duly recorded by me stenographically and reduced
to computer transcription; that this is a true, full
and correct transcript so taken; and that I am not
related to, nor of counsel to either party nor
interested in the event of this cause.

Elizabeth Koller



Elizabeth Koller
CSR 7042, Notary Public,
Wayne County, Michigan

My Commission expires: June 1st, 2018

A

A.C 31:1
a.m 5:19
abduction 20:22
 20:23
able 8:4 9:13
 11:7,13,14
absence 6:17
 10:11
absent 7:17
absolutely 34:21
abstentions 43:3
Academy 37:5
accepting 42:6
accomplishment
 9:7
account 45:12
accountability
 18:25
accountant 45:8
accounting 45:7
accurate 20:9
acknowledgment
 34:3
acronym 28:8
act 21:20
action 29:5
activists 37:16
activities 29:9
activity 49:20
ad 40:11
additional 11:10
 21:12 31:19
address 11:25
adjourn 50:21,25
admin 40:24
 41:10
administer 11:21
administered
 11:19
administering
 9:8
administrative
 5:11 39:24
 43:9 44:9
 45:23,23 46:10
administrators
 11:23
adoption 6:20
adult 33:12
adults 28:10

advantage 31:11
advise 36:5,13
 45:3
afternoon 3:4
 8:20 37:4,13
 37:14 39:16,17
 40:15,16 43:5
 49:5,6 51:3
age 28:7
agenda 5:24 6:1
 6:5 48:19
agility 9:9
 11:10 15:5,8
ago 8:3 19:21
 25:11 26:13,18
 28:17 33:21
agree 42:4,5
agreement 47:16
ahead 10:7
Akbar 5:9
Alan 5:12
allow 11:10 47:3
alluded 15:4
amazed 31:25
amendment 6:13
 6:14,15,24
AmeriCorps 38:6
 39:10
amount 41:6
amounts 46:12
Angeles 18:9
 25:5 30:13
 32:23 34:1
Announcement
 36:18
answer 33:17
anti-police 26:2
 26:10
anybody 4:25
 19:13
anytime 25:5
Anyway 7:19
appeals 10:19
appear 15:11
appearance 27:22
 36:8
APPEARANCES 2:1
appeared 20:22
Appearing 2:13
applaud 22:4
applicants 15:7
 15:14

application 42:6
 43:10
applications
 42:6
appreciate 24:11
 24:24 26:7
 27:25 29:7
 31:7 34:3
appreciated
 27:21
apprised 47:1
approve 5:25 6:5
 6:12,23
area 29:6
armed 20:23
arranged 8:4
arrest 21:7
arrested 21:21
 21:24
arrived 29:19
aside 50:3
asking 43:16
assessment 13:18
assistance 10:9
Assistant 5:11
assistants 9:16
associated 28:4
assume 13:25
 14:9 16:4
 25:15
assumption 47:6
 47:7
attend 10:3
 22:11 23:11
attended 29:2
 30:15
attends 38:6
attention 39:2
Attorney 3:11,13
 3:16,18,20,23
 4:1,3,5,7,11
 5:2,4,20,22
 7:13 30:18
 49:12,16
attrition 10:5,6
 10:9
audience 37:2
 50:19
August 10:1
authorized 44:7
 45:2
automatically

47:17
available 8:8,16
 25:16 31:15
 40:1
Avenue 1:16
average 20:1
 34:24
awhile 40:21
Aye 6:7 7:1 43:1
 51:1
ays 43:3

B

back 31:12 41:20
 41:23 43:18
 45:16 48:15,19
bag 41:25
Baltimore 26:2
base 8:25
based 41:8
basis 9:3
behalf 2:13
beings 24:14
believe 15:24
 16:3 30:6,9,17
 32:4 42:7
Bell 2:3 3:16,17
 6:3 7:4,7,11
 7:14,16,25
 13:15,16,21
 14:2 28:24
 42:22
Belle 37:9
Bernard 2:12
 3:11,13,16,18
 3:20,23 4:1,3
 4:5,7,11 5:2,4
 5:21,22 7:13
 49:12,16
Bettison 29:3
 50:15
big 27:5 39:7
birthday 21:6
Bishop 2:8 38:22
 38:22
bit 45:12
black 19:5 38:11
Blue 23:1,2,4
board 1:2 2:13
 3:5 5:3,11
 8:14 12:23
 14:8 16:19

22:11 23:11
 27:14 35:18
 36:18,23 37:7
 40:15 45:16
body 7:21 23:21
 23:21
boy 16:22 21:16
 23:21
bridges 28:23
brief 39:20
bring 37:25 40:1
broadcast 5:18
Brooks 2:9 3:18
 3:19 23:16,17
 23:18 24:3
brought 14:21
Brown 5:11
building 28:23
 36:21 49:22
Burton 2:6 3:21
 3:22 6:13,15
 6:21,24 7:8,9
 7:20 14:18,19
 14:20 15:1
 39:13
Business 36:17
 36:17
Butler 37:13,15
 37:15

C

Cake 9:25
call 3:7,12 4:13
 7:17 30:2 35:1
 35:25
call-ins 30:15
called 23:4 36:1
 49:8
calming 39:5
Camp 28:5,8 50:8
candidate 16:1,1
capita 18:3
 30:23
car 46:18 47:2,3
 47:5
care 43:17 47:21
carjackings
 17:11
carries 6:9 7:3
 51:2
cars 8:10 41:11
Carter 2:2 3:4,6

3:10,14,15 4:9
 4:15,18,22 5:1
 5:20,23 6:4,8
 6:14,18,22 7:2
 7:6,24 8:1
 10:23 11:1
 12:3 13:14
 14:5,17,19
 15:2,7,13,18
 16:16 23:14,17
 24:4 27:9 31:6
 31:10,18,22
 35:4,11,14,19
 36:16 37:11,14
 39:9,15 40:12
 40:14 42:1,10
 42:13,17,19,21
 42:23 43:2,20
 44:11,15,19,22
 45:17,19 46:2
 48:8,11,14,18
 48:23 49:3,6
 50:1,7,13,16
 50:18,24 51:2
case 16:7 24:18
 24:18,18 26:18
 35:8 45:10
cases 32:2
categories 10:12
cause 52:13
Ceasefire 29:12
 29:20,22,25
 30:7,9,12 31:3
 31:4 49:18
 50:3
Celia 42:4 44:24
certainly 14:4
 16:21 17:18
 18:15,17,21
 19:10 20:5,21
 21:7,23 23:23
 24:24 26:25
 30:22
CERTIFICATE 52:1
Certified 52:5
certify 52:7
Chair 3:6,17,24
 4:21 6:2,3,19
 7:4,4,7,11,14
 7:16,20,25
 10:25 12:5
 13:16,16,21

14:2,7,18
 16:19 24:6,23
 27:24 28:24,24
 29:17 31:15,20
 32:21 35:7,16
 35:20 38:22
 42:12,22 45:18
 48:10 49:12
 50:14
Chairperson 2:2
 2:3 3:4,10,14
 3:15 4:7,9,15
 4:18,22 5:1,4
 5:20,23 6:4,8
 6:14,18,22 7:2
 7:6,24 8:1
 10:23 11:1
 12:3 13:14
 14:5,17,19
 15:2,7,13,18
 16:16 23:14,17
 24:4 27:9 31:6
 31:10,18,22
 35:4,11,14,19
 36:16 37:11,14
 39:9,15 40:12
 40:14 42:1,10
 42:13,17,19,21
 42:23 43:2,20
 44:11,15,19,22
 45:17,19 46:2
 48:8,11,14,18
 48:23 49:3,6
 50:1,7,13,16
 50:18,24 51:2
chance 30:3
change 38:18
 39:7
changer 9:12
Channel 5:18
charged 46:15
chart 12:13
Chene 22:12,14
Chief 4:19,21,24
 4:25 5:7,7,10
 8:3,12 16:17
 16:19 18:22
 19:1 20:6
 23:23 24:7,23
 27:24 28:24
 29:17 30:18
 31:9,14,15,18

32:21 35:3,12
 35:13 37:8
 42:1,16,16
 44:22 50:7
Chiefs 17:16
child 18:15
 25:13 26:13
 28:12 33:1,14
 34:10,19
children 18:20
 22:10 24:15
 26:14,19 28:9
 28:10 32:7,14
 32:16 33:8,10
 33:22,23 49:8
 49:14
chose 8:11
Christopher 5:16
Cincinnati 29:21
CITI 28:5,8 50:8
cities 17:22
 29:20
citizen 35:21,23
 36:1,2,5,5
 37:5
citizens 28:7
 35:22
city 15:14 17:15
 18:12 20:11
 30:12,13,19
 32:23,23 34:14
 34:25 38:1
 40:6,8 43:7
 44:7 45:6
 46:14,18 47:7
 47:21 49:19
 50:4
City's 47:13
civilian 8:24,25
 9:20 10:8,10
 13:9
civilians 9:16
 9:17
clarification
 44:25
class 15:23 16:4
 16:11 28:17
classroom 39:1
clean 38:14
cleaner 38:13
clear 19:12
 20:18 45:22

46:21 48:4,5,9
49:24
clearance 19:25
43:10
clearly 33:5
clergy 27:1,1
clock 21:4
close 50:4
closed 41:18
42:7
closer 8:11 10:2
Club 23:9
Coffee 9:25
coffers 47:8
coincidental
32:15,19
Cole 21:5
collaborating
49:21
collaborators
50:4
collect 46:18
collected 46:1,9
46:13,17
color 38:10,10
come 8:10,12
12:16 37:9
45:16 48:14
comes 11:2 41:23
comical 29:23
coming 25:1
27:13 41:20
48:1 51:3
command 20:24
29:4
Commander 29:3,3
50:11,12,15
Commencing 1:19
commend 32:2
comment 27:11
35:6
comments 23:13
23:15 24:5
27:10 31:19
35:5 37:3
Commission 3:6
5:17 6:24 14:5
14:14 35:25
36:16 52:20
Commissioner 2:4
2:5,6,7,8,9,10
3:8,10,19,20
3:22,25 4:2,4
4:6,10,11,12
4:13,16,16 6:2
6:13,15,19,21
7:9,15,20
10:25 11:1,2,7
11:15 12:2,5
12:11,13,16,18
12:24 13:3,12
13:15 14:6,13
14:15,18,19,20
15:1,19,20
16:10 23:16,17
23:18 24:3,5,6
27:11,13,14,24
31:20,22,23
35:2,5,6,16,20
36:1 42:12,13
42:14,18,20
45:18,19,20
46:4,8,20,24
47:5,10,20,24
48:8,10,11,12
48:17,21,23,25
49:1 50:22,23
Commissioners
1:2 2:14 3:5
5:24 6:7,11
7:1 8:3 10:3
10:23 12:4
14:9 15:3
23:14 24:5
27:10 35:5
36:19,23 39:16
39:17 40:9,16
42:11 43:1
48:5 49:5 51:1
commitment 21:9
committed 21:6
30:16
Committee 35:15
35:21
common 32:9,19
communications
37:1 49:4
50:19,20,20
communities
38:19 39:7
49:9 50:5
community 18:11
25:24 27:4
28:23 29:2,5
36:24 37:16,17
38:9,14,15,21
49:10
companies 41:24
46:25 48:1
company 21:24
39:20,23 40:7
41:22 42:25
46:13,14
compare 17:21
compared 17:3,7
17:23 20:13
complaint 35:21
35:24,25 36:3
36:5,6,12,14
36:15
complaints 36:8
COMPSTAT 38:7
computer 11:25
38:3 52:10
concern 27:5
concerning 47:12
concerns 45:1
concluded 51:4
concludes 10:21
confidence 34:13
49:8,15
conflict 36:9
consider 19:3,12
contacted 43:12
context 21:1
continue 17:9,12
21:10 27:6
34:12
continues 9:1
19:10 20:15
continuing 22:6
conversation
45:4
copies 38:9
copy 14:15 38:20
39:11
correct 11:17
12:10,12 19:1
44:21 46:1,2,3
46:7 47:4,9
52:11
correction 6:20
cost 11:13
costly 38:11
costs 11:11
47:11,12
Council 37:18
counsel 52:12
counselor 37:16
count 37:8
county 26:3 52:4
52:6,19
couple 8:3
course 26:9
43:23
court 5:13,14
coward 33:13
Craig 4:19,21,24
16:17,19 23:23
24:23 27:24
29:17 31:9,14
32:21 35:3,13
Crawford 2:5
3:23 4:16,17
14:5,6,13
15:19,20 16:10
27:11,25 35:20
36:17 48:21,23
48:25 50:22
credit 19:14
34:4
crime 16:20,24
16:25 17:8,17
18:10 19:7
20:5,11 30:23
38:14
crimes 24:10
criminals 34:23
crowd 33:20
CSR 52:18
CSR-7042 1:21
curious 49:18
current 8:23
40:1
currently 22:1
custody 21:23
22:2
customer 46:9
cut 19:25

D

D 2:12
D.C 31:1,17 42:4
44:24 50:14
daily 18:11
data 19:3 20:8
date 8:15,17 9:4
10:2 13:8

22:12 23:10
35:18
Davis-Drake 5:6
day 11:23 30:25
46:15,15
dealing 33:14
death 20:19
decided 23:20
26:16 33:23
decline 17:12
declined 29:8
declining 17:23
dedication 21:9
deep 18:9
defending 8:15
defenseless
34:10,10
degree 25:25
denial 42:8
denied 39:25
41:15
Department 8:23
18:23 19:19
21:13 22:5
24:21 25:10
32:1 34:6
38:17 40:3,20
42:3 43:10,18
43:23 44:2,10
44:12 47:14
49:20
Departments 25:2
26:1
depending 41:11
deployed 25:6
Deputy 4:24 19:1
20:6 31:15
42:1,16 44:22
Derrick 2:7 4:1
designs 38:4
despite 34:20
Detail 40:21
details 33:11
determined 36:25
Detroit 1:2,17
1:18 2:13 3:1
9:20,21 12:7
12:14,20 16:11
17:21 18:13
19:19 20:12
22:5 23:9 25:1
25:7,24 26:4

28:8 29:22
31:23 32:1
34:20 37:5
40:20 49:15,20
49:23 50:4
Detroit's 17:24
45:6
Detroiters 13:9
26:5 34:24,25
Devonte 24:2
Dewaelsche 2:4
3:24,25 31:20
31:22,23 35:2
Dexter 33:21
difference 28:23
33:25 38:18
different 18:12
24:18 28:21
30:11 45:12
49:23
differently
38:15
difficult 34:8
difficulties
40:5
digit 30:8
direct 30:10
direction 20:17
27:7 33:8
directly 26:20
30:14,15
Director 5:5
8:20,21 10:24
11:6,9,18 12:9
12:12,15,17,21
12:25 13:7,13
13:20 14:1,4,7
14:12,16,23
15:3,6,10,16
15:23 16:14,16
22:18
disbursed 39:11
discussion 6:6
6:25 17:15
42:25
disruption 30:2
dissect 37:22
dissertation
8:16
District 7:8
35:24 36:13
doctor 25:17

doing 24:21 31:1
35:9
door 8:10
double 30:7
DPD 5:13 21:3
Drake 8:4,13
drive 18:21 29:7
drive-by 33:5,19
driving 20:7
31:2
drop 16:6
duly 52:9
duty 10:13

E

E 2:3,6 3:16,20
7:7
earlier 50:8
early 25:9
east 29:6
Easter 18:19
eastside 30:1,9
30:22,24
Edgar 2:8 4:5
Education 37:21
effect 27:20
39:5
effort 25:15
26:17 27:6
28:16 29:9
30:12,25
eight 10:9 16:4
22:17
either 15:10
32:13 34:24
49:20 52:12
elderly 34:11
eleven 9:16 16:9
Elizabeth 1:21
2:9 3:18 5:13
52:5,17
email 14:8
emotional 24:8
employed 40:7
encounter 29:13
encountered
13:22
enforcement
21:13 24:12
engage 30:5
33:19
engaged 30:6

engaging 33:5
enhance 27:6
enhanced 26:25
enjoying 33:22
entertain 10:16
22:7
entertainers
23:5
entertainment
22:15
especially 26:11
28:15 29:25
49:10
estimate 41:7,7
41:8,9
EVA 2:4
evaluating 32:8
32:18
evaluation 25:20
Eve 3:24
event 10:4 25:14
52:13
events 18:21
everybody 38:17
Everybody's 4:25
exactly 48:2
exam 10:18,20
11:9,11,12
examination 9:8
11:19
example 13:5
exams 9:9,11
excellent 35:7,9
35:9
excess 21:5
22:17
excited 18:2
22:23 30:21
Excuse 49:12
excused 4:12,13
4:14 6:17 7:8
7:18,22
executive 23:8
existence 29:14
expected 10:20
expediency 31:25
experience 25:3
28:13 29:20
experienced 18:9
experiences
18:15
experiencing

17:24 25:13,25
expires 52:20
exposed 27:3,5
 28:11
extension 40:2,9
extremely 19:19
 25:23

F

face 18:18 27:18
 27:18
facility 11:24
fact 19:9 21:4
 22:16,18 27:16
 31:7 45:10
factually 17:22
fail 11:16,16,16
 15:11
failed 11:4,4
faith 34:14
families 24:15
 33:22
family 23:25
far 29:6
fatal 20:14,15
favor 6:6,25
 42:25 50:25
FBI 21:3,14 22:6
fear 18:21
February 41:3
February's 41:3
fee 44:9 46:5
feedback 13:17
 29:12,15
feel 18:12,13,16
 26:4 32:2
 38:13,15
fees 39:24 40:4
 40:11,24 41:10
 41:21,23 43:9
 43:13,15,17
 45:11,15,23,23
 45:25 46:10
 48:3
feet 19:18
felt 28:19
female 21:24
fewer 8:10 19:20
fifty 28:1
figure 14:23
file 35:23 36:5
 36:14

filed 36:2
filled 8:24
 13:10
film 37:23
final 9:22 10:19
Finance 41:13
 45:3
financial 40:5
find 21:6,16
 34:15
fine 35:17
finish 16:8
fired 33:8
first 5:6 26:21
 28:25 34:3
 46:15
fiscal 9:4
five 16:25 17:8
 18:19 26:13
 41:12
flag 17:18 18:7
 20:2
flier 38:1
floor 8:5,6,9
 16:17
fluctuate 41:10
flying 20:2
FMLA 10:15
focuses 49:9
following 20:21
format 7:12,12
 7:13,14
Fort 36:21
forth 52:8
fortunate 34:5
fortune 25:2
forward 9:2 20:8
found 43:7,12
four 15:24
fourth 21:25
 22:2
Fredia 37:15
free 15:8 37:7
freezer 26:20
full 18:24 29:18
 52:10
full-blown 20:24
function 19:2
funds 39:25
future 10:2 13:7

G

gained 10:7
Gale 5:5 8:20
game 9:12
gang 32:25
gangs 32:24
Gary 39:18
gathering 19:3
generally 25:6
 34:16
gentleman 38:2
 45:4,7
gentrification
 37:22
getting 8:13
 12:6 16:6
 19:24 21:23
give 10:1 14:15
 15:8,10,12
 29:18 34:4
 37:2 38:19
 39:19 40:18
 46:11 48:15,19
given 23:23
 45:22
giving 26:11
 30:16
glad 14:14
glitch 39:23
go 13:24 18:6
 19:11 25:19
 26:14 29:19
 30:3,4,22 31:5
 31:12 36:4
 42:15 46:18
goal 9:3
goes 30:19 46:12
 46:14
going 3:7 8:19
 15:22 16:4
 22:13,14 27:22
 28:6 30:22
 32:4 33:11
 35:17 37:8,22
 37:24 38:10
 39:4 40:22
 48:14,15
good 3:4 8:20
 9:2 10:6 17:16
 19:9 20:16
 25:22 33:17
 34:24 37:4,13
 37:14 39:16,17

40:6,15,16
 43:5 49:5,6
 50:16
Goodan 5:16
Govender 43:5,5
 48:22
graduated 28:17
Graduation 9:25
grant 40:9
great 9:6 27:21
 27:22 29:19
 34:6 39:13
Green 19:23
group 23:2,3
 27:15
growing 16:5
grown 29:23 34:9
guidelines 11:20
 11:21

H

hands 40:3
Hanson 5:14
happen 18:10
happened 34:16
happening 37:21
happens 32:5
happy 10:16
hard 19:20 20:3
hat 21:8
head 37:8
Headquarters
 1:17
hear 18:11 25:25
heard 17:24 23:1
 24:7
hearing 29:3
 52:7
height 32:25
heinous 24:9
held 9:25
help 24:21
helped 38:2
helpful 13:11
 31:13
helping 50:4
hereinbefore
 52:8
high 18:3 23:25
 30:24
highly 26:5
hired 9:3,5

15:24 16:1,6
hires 9:15,19,20
 9:21
hiring 9:3
history 39:20
hole 19:5
homicide 17:25
 18:17 20:1
homicides 17:1,3
 20:12 30:8
hope 37:19
hoping 37:25
horrific 18:19
 21:20 25:14
hours 9:24 21:5
 21:19 29:1
 34:16
house 27:20
HR 8:19
human 24:12,14
 24:16
hundred 21:2
hyper 39:3,4
hypothetically
 46:6

I

Ian 49:7,14
identified 24:1
identify 21:19
II 4:5
images 34:14
imagine 24:17
 26:12
imagines 20:24
immediately
 21:22
impact 26:11
impacted 26:21
important 13:4,6
 19:15 28:14
 30:23 37:21
improprieties
 36:9
impulse 9:7
incentive 15:21
 16:2
incident 16:21
 25:19 27:19
 32:8 33:12
included 10:15
includes 16:24

including 19:3
 21:3 30:13
 47:13
incorrect 18:24
 18:24
increase 17:4
indicated 13:17
individual 18:21
 45:13
individuals 30:5
information
 12:22,22 13:1
 14:25 23:24
 37:25 38:3
 44:5
informed 44:6
initially 45:24
Initiative 19:23
initiatives
 49:19,23 50:3
inquiry 31:7
inside 7:9
instance 44:25
instances 26:9
 33:6
interest 22:21
 36:9
interested 49:21
 52:13
international
 22:18
Internship 9:22
intervene 28:15
Intervention
 28:9
introduce 4:19
 4:23 5:2
investigation
 19:2 21:11
 22:3 23:24
investigative
 20:7
Investigator 5:7
 5:8,9,10 8:4
 8:12
invite 22:11
 23:10
inviting 37:7
invocation 3:8,9
involved 21:7
 25:18 28:2,3,3
 28:15 29:21

30:14,16 32:7
 32:17
involving 16:21
 20:19 22:10
 26:12,19 27:19
Isle 37:9
issue 20:19
 41:23
issues 11:25
 35:17 45:8

J

jail 31:12
January 14:22
 40:25
January's 41:2
job 19:6 26:6
 31:2 35:7,9,10
jobs 37:22
John 43:5
joining 4:20
July 10:14 36:24
 37:6
jump 10:8
June 1:20 3:2
 5:25 8:15,16
 9:23 10:20
 13:18,25,25
 14:1 22:14
 36:19 52:20

K

keep 46:5
keeping 31:2
key 49:9
kind 24:19 25:13
 26:8 29:23
 38:20,23
knew 33:7,13
 43:15 47:25
know 8:2 17:14
 19:1 20:10
 21:17,21 22:18
 23:19 24:7
 25:4,18,23
 27:7 28:5 29:1
 29:16,16 30:11
 30:14,16,23,24
 31:2 32:3,14
 32:15,16 33:1
 34:7,18,19
 38:11 39:4

40:9 41:13,18
 43:16 44:17
 45:5 48:2
 49:18 50:8,10
knowing 33:9
 47:1
known 33:7
knows 19:1,3,15
Koller 1:21 5:13
 52:5,17
Kowalski 39:16
 39:18,18 40:17
 43:4

L

LA 32:25
landscape 49:22
lastly 23:7
late 32:7 33:3
Laughter 16:13
launch 26:16
launched 20:24
 25:11
law 21:12 24:12
Lawrence 5:9
lead 27:6 34:6
leaders 27:1
leadership 20:6
leading 25:2
leaflets 39:11
leave 10:11 47:3
leaves 47:2
led 21:11
left 47:5
leisure 10:16
length 41:15
Let's 18:18
Levalley 19:2
 20:6 31:1,15
 31:17
level 28:13
license 42:16
Lieutenant 21:5
life 31:24 34:11
 40:8
Light 19:23
limit 37:2
LINDA 2:12
line 16:8
lines 27:8
Lisa 2:2 3:6,14
list 9:22 39:21

43:13 44:7,12
 44:14,17 45:2
literally 21:3
little 21:16
 39:23 45:12
live 15:14 29:6
 35:8 36:13
located 36:21
location 30:3
 36:25
lock 22:13
long 30:19 40:3
 43:7,16
look 17:1,5,10
 17:17,20 18:4
 18:18 19:21
 21:18 22:2
 30:7 31:3
 33:18 34:7
 49:23
looking 32:8
looks 4:24
Los 18:9 25:4
 30:13 32:23
 34:1
loses 18:15
lost 10:6
lot 16:5 21:14
 24:13 26:2
 32:3 39:4
 46:16 47:2,3,6
love 28:21
lower 39:1,2
lowest 17:6,25

M

ma'am 14:6,13
 15:20 39:9,12
 43:22
Madam 3:11,13,24
 4:7,21 5:4 6:2
 6:19 7:4 12:5
 13:16 14:7
 16:19 24:6
 28:24 31:20
 35:20 45:18
 48:10 49:12
 50:14
main 21:21
major 17:15,22
majority 17:22
 26:5 34:25

47:11
making 18:25
 20:8 48:9 49:1
 49:2
male 33:12
Mallett 4:13
man 21:7 33:15
manage 19:4
Management 40:20
manipulate 19:4
manipulates
 19:13
map 18:5
Marcel 5:16
March 41:4
matter 27:1,16
 33:24
Mayor 30:9,14,18
MCO's 15:5
mean 8:7 11:19
 18:7 19:17
 32:23 46:25
 47:25
Meaning 46:4
measure 29:16
media 1:16 5:15
 5:17 20:25
 21:22
meet 18:10 27:2
 27:4 30:4
meeting 1:3 3:5
 3:7 4:25 5:17
 6:17 7:5 29:2
 36:24 38:7
 43:25 45:5
 51:4
meetings 31:25
 36:19
member 16:2 21:4
members 27:4
 28:1 33:4
men 19:20 34:4
mention 24:7
mentioned 8:2
 49:17 50:8,8
message 30:20
metric 13:4
Michigan 1:1,18
 3:1 52:2,19
mid 13:25
middle 28:7
million 22:17

minds 38:19
minute 42:14
minutes 6:10,12
 6:16,16,20,23
 7:10,11,18,21
 37:3
misappropriated
 45:11
miscommunicat...
 45:8
misconduct 19:4
 19:13
missing 20:22
mistake 33:14
mistaking 33:15
model 29:20
Monday 9:23 38:8
 39:14
money 16:12 45:7
 45:25 46:17,19
 47:11,13,17
 48:5
month 8:3,22 9:7
 9:17 10:6,7,20
 12:9,10,11
 13:4,8,18,19
 13:23,25 14:1
 16:3 23:10
 32:22 38:8
 41:1,2,2,8,11
 46:19
monthly 8:19 9:3
 13:1
months 14:21
 41:6
Moore 4:10,11,12
 35:25 36:1
morning 5:18
 23:19 40:11
Mosley 5:17
mother 21:17
 26:19
motion 5:25 6:8
 6:12 7:3 42:19
 42:20 48:13
 50:21 51:2
move 6:2,4,19
 7:19 9:2 20:16
 30:21 50:22
moved 6:22 42:23
 50:24
moving 27:7

MPOs 29:4
MSP 21:3 22:6
multiple 25:21
murders 33:1
Myers 40:13,13
 40:14,15,17,19
 40:19 42:5,7
 43:20,22 44:13
 44:16,21 45:3
 46:3,7,11,23
 47:4,9,19,23
 48:7

N

name 3:6 37:2,15
 39:18 40:18
 49:7,13
names 4:14
national 20:1
nature 24:10
necessary 6:20
need 18:6 37:8
 38:24 39:1,3,5
 40:1
needed 48:2
needs 38:16
neighborhood
 19:23
neighborhoods
 28:14 49:10
 50:5
never 31:8 32:22
 44:8,17,19
 45:1
new 9:5,15,19,20
 9:21 17:15
 18:10 36:17
 37:19
news 17:16 20:16
 20:21 23:18,21
 24:1 25:22
night 34:17
nine 4:8
non 20:14,15
 41:15
non-fatal 18:20
nonfatal 17:5
nonpayment 43:8
noon 37:9
normal 28:12
 32:16
normally 12:13

Notary 52:1, 6, 18
note 17:14
notice 24:25
 42:7
noticed 6:16
 25:9
notify 13:21, 24
number 9:1, 2, 10
 13:8 15:24
 16:3 47:25
numbers 9:9
 10:11 12:19
 13:10 17:2, 7
 17:17, 25 18:3
 18:4, 5, 23, 25
 19:5, 14

O

obviously 27:7
occur 11:25
occurrences
 24:19
occurring 18:7
offenses 16:25
 18:19
offered 31:11
Office 5:7, 10
 21:14
Officer 25:5, 12
 28:3 40:12, 13
 40:15, 17, 19, 19
 42:5, 7 43:20
 43:22 44:13, 16
 44:21 45:3
 46:3, 7, 11, 23
 47:4, 9, 19, 23
 48:7
Officer's 25:15
 25:18
Officers 12:19
 13:22 14:21
 19:23 21:2
 22:22 23:4
 24:9, 14, 17, 22
 25:3, 8, 12, 20
 25:24 26:6, 7
 26:11, 14, 20
 27:2, 17 28:2, 2
 28:10, 15, 20
 30:6 37:7
 42:15
official 38:25

Oh 7:11 12:11
 39:13 47:4
Ohio 21:11, 14, 25
okay 4:9 5:1
 6:14, 18 7:11
 12:2, 24 13:3, 7
 14:3, 16 15:13
 15:18 25:15
 31:9 35:19
 37:11 44:15, 22
 45:17 50:1, 2
old 36:17 39:21
once 34:13
one-day 40:1
ones 16:7
ongoing 22:3
online 11:22
open 22:8 23:7
 23:12 41:24
Operation 29:12
 49:17 50:3
opportunity
 15:12 23:11
 43:17 48:15
opposed 6:8 7:2
 43:2
oral 37:1 49:4
 50:19, 19, 20
order 3:7 16:1
 39:2
organization
 32:24 49:8, 19
organizations
 50:2
Outer 29:6
outstanding 29:1
overall 13:17
 16:24 17:8, 17
overnight 18:10
oversee 19:2
owe 16:12
owed 41:6, 13
 46:9 47:7
owned 40:21
owner 39:19
Oxendine 5:5
 8:20, 21 10:24
 11:6, 9, 18 12:9
 12:12, 15, 17, 21
 12:25 13:7, 13
 13:20 14:1, 4
 14:12, 16, 23

15:3, 6, 10, 16
 15:23 16:14, 17
 22:18

P

p.m 1:19 3:3
 36:20, 24 51:4
P24740 2:12
packet 8:22
 10:15
padding 18:23
page 1:14 9:19
paid 40:2, 4, 24
 41:8 43:11, 14
 43:15, 16 46:19
 47:6 48:3
Pamela 5:6
Pannell 37:4, 5
 37:12
park 8:4, 5, 9
 22:12, 14 33:21
parked 8:10
parking 8:5, 7, 7
 8:11
part 7:15, 16, 18
 19:6 25:3
 27:17
participants
 31:12
particular 29:21
 45:1
partners 22:5
parts 49:23
party 52:12
Pass 42:20
passed 9:11
patterns 18:6
pay 45:6, 9, 11
 47:15 48:3
paying 41:20
 45:25 47:3
payment 40:25
 41:3, 3, 5, 15
 44:18, 20 45:14
payments 41:1
 44:2, 4, 8 48:16
pays 41:23
peace 22:10 23:6
 30:20 49:22
peer 25:9, 10, 12
 25:17 26:16, 21
 26:22, 24 27:15

people 9:1, 10
 15:24 24:13
 29:13 32:11, 12
 32:13 34:18, 18
 34:20 40:7
 41:21
percent 13:5
 16:23 17:1, 2, 4
 17:6, 9, 11, 12
 19:16 20:13, 14
 46:3
percentages
 14:11
period 35:8 42:6
permeating 26:3
permit 39:24
 40:22 41:14, 17
 41:18 42:17, 18
 42:24
permits 40:23
person 21:22
 34:9 36:14
personally 26:6
 36:6, 11
Personnel 5:5
 8:21
persons 33:23
pertaining 14:10
phenomenal 20:7
 22:4 31:2 34:5
phrase 10:13
physical 9:9
 11:4, 10 15:5
picnic 37:6
Pigs 23:2, 3
place 24:19 52:8
placed 24:9
 26:19
plain 49:1, 2
planning 22:9
 23:8
please 3:8, 12
 37:2, 3
pleased 29:5
plus 41:12
point 7:5 19:12
 20:17, 23 45:20
police 1:2 2:13
 3:5 5:5 8:21
 9:16 10:9
 13:22 14:9
 18:22, 23 19:19

19:23 21:2,13
 22:5,22 23:4
 25:1 26:1,6
 28:9,15,20,21
 28:22 30:18
 32:1 36:18,23
 37:5,7 38:17
 39:21 40:2,20
 44:10,12 49:20
population 22:22
portion 24:20
positions 8:24
 13:10
possibility
 33:10
post 20:24 29:4
power 40:10
 47:15
Precinct 20:10
 20:13 26:18
 29:2,8 35:9
 36:20,25 37:17
 38:7
predates 22:9
predatory 33:12
present 3:15,17
 3:19,22,25 4:2
 4:4,6,17 33:8
 33:24 45:15
presentation
 27:15,21 31:4
 45:21 47:14
 48:1
press 29:22
pretty 10:5
previous 6:17
 7:21
prior 27:13
 40:22 41:2
 42:7 45:13
probability
 23:25
probably 17:6
 22:17,21 23:4
 23:8,9 25:11
 26:18 36:14
problem 7:25
 41:19,19
proceedings 5:15
process 9:1,14
 10:19 11:14
 12:1 15:17

16:7 40:23
proctors 11:24
program 9:22,24
 15:21 28:19
 31:11
program's 29:14
progress 17:18
 21:10
progressed 20:22
project 10:13
 39:10
Projects 10:12
promise 30:17
promised 13:23
 37:24 38:8
promotional
 10:18
prone 30:5
proof 45:9,14
property 16:25
prove 48:15
provide 11:22,24
 13:1,8 14:24
 31:13 45:14
psychological
 24:8
PTSD 25:4,5
public 1:17
 19:15 36:21
 52:6,18
purposeful 33:16
purposely 32:13
put 19:18 20:9
 20:24 21:22
 22:1 23:20
 34:14 38:4
 43:18 45:11
 48:19 50:14
putting 21:1

Q

quarter 19:8
question 10:16
 10:21 11:16
 14:20 15:3
 24:24 32:6
questions 10:23
 12:3 13:14
 15:2 22:7,8
 23:8,12,15
 24:4 27:9
 29:11 35:4

quickly 9:13,14
 9:14 20:25
 32:1
Quinn 5:12
quorum 4:8

R

Rap 38:25 39:4
rash 22:9
rate 19:25
raw 17:2,7
reach 45:3
read 10:15 26:1
 36:7,11
reading 11:4
really 9:12 21:8
 27:25 28:16
 30:17,19 31:1
 34:8 48:25
realtime 20:5
reason 32:10
 39:25
reasons 26:16
recall 27:16
receive 16:2
received 14:8
 31:8 35:25
 41:5 43:23
 44:8,18,19
 47:18
recognize 17:16
recommendation
 35:18 42:2,15
record 7:15,16
 8:21 19:11
 20:3 36:4 40:6
recorded 5:15
 52:9
recorders 5:12
Recruiting 9:1
recruitment
 22:19
recruits 9:6,13
Red's 43:6 44:4
 44:6,8 48:13
reduced 52:9
reduction 16:24
 17:10 20:13,14
 30:8
reductions 18:9
reenactment
 22:24

reestablished
 23:2
refer 15:25
 33:13
reference 13:23
 45:21
referral 15:21
 16:2,15
referrals 16:5
referred 15:25
 16:11 36:2
reflect 6:17 7:9
 7:23 20:3
reflects 7:18
regardless 36:12
Reginald 2:5
 3:23
region 21:14
regular 1:3
 49:10
related 52:12
relates 26:1
 28:6 32:6
Relations 37:18
relationship
 26:25
remember 26:17
 45:21 47:13
renew 42:24
renewing 40:23
 42:16
reopen 42:9
report 8:2,18,19
 8:22 10:14,21
 13:1 16:20
 17:24 19:7
 23:1 29:18
reported 6:24
 28:18,25 33:7
reporter 5:13
 52:5
reporting 5:14
 24:1 29:12
Reports 35:15
representing
 49:7
requested 12:21
requesting 40:8
rescheduled
 15:11
research 38:24
 39:6

residencies 12:14
residency 14:11
resident 16:12
 31:24
residents 9:20
 9:21 12:8,20
resolving 32:1
Resource 40:20
resources 25:16
respect 9:21
 10:5,12 11:11
respond 27:2
 34:18 43:21
responding 24:9
 26:20
response 19:25
responsibilities
 47:1
responsibility
 18:24 45:25
 47:20
responsible
 21:20
rest 5:2 48:4
restricted 10:13
restructuring
 8:25 9:17
 10:10
result 30:10
results 10:19,19
 39:3,5
retaliation
 32:12
retreat 23:8
retrieved 23:24
return 25:7
reverence 34:11
review 21:18
 36:6,7,14
 37:19
reviewed 21:19
rhetoric 26:2,10
Richard 2:10 4:3
right 5:8,12
 12:6 20:17
 27:7 42:10
 46:20,21 49:24
 50:18
road 18:5
robberies 17:9
 17:10

robbery 18:15
Robert 5:10
roll 3:12 7:17
Room 1:16
Roots 37:20
rotation 43:8,19
roughly 28:1
routine 27:1
row 5:6

S

safe 18:16
safer 18:13 32:3
Safety 1:17
 36:21 39:10
Sanders 2:7 4:1
 4:2 10:25 11:1
 11:2,7,15 12:2
 35:5,6,16
 42:12,13,14,18
 42:20 48:10,11
 48:12,17
savvy 38:3
saw 33:21
saying 15:9
 19:17
says 7:7,22
scene 26:15
school 28:7
scored 11:23
scores 13:17,24
season 41:17
second 8:14 19:8
 20:19 37:17
 38:7
secretary 8:14
 37:17
see 9:9 11:3
 17:12 26:1,4
 28:21 29:24
 32:8,18 38:20
 38:21 39:13
 43:18
seeing 25:13
 49:21
seen 25:7,7
 32:22 33:3,4
sending 30:19
sentence 49:25
separates 28:16
Sergeant 5:12
serious 19:4,12

20:3 24:25
 30:20
seriously 19:6
serve 24:14
served 41:19
Service 43:6
Services 5:14,15
 5:17
session 31:16
set 11:20 23:10
 52:8
seven 9:20 12:7
 16:3
Sharon 37:4
sheet 43:24 44:1
Shelby 2:10 4:3
 4:4
Shelter 37:9
shoot 33:20,23
shooting 18:17
 20:14 25:19
 32:14 33:6,20
shootings 17:5
 20:15 22:9
 25:21 28:3
 30:8 32:7,25
Shorthand 52:5
shot 18:20
show 19:7
showing 17:4
shown 22:20
side 24:12,16
 28:21
sign 19:10
significant 10:8
 22:21
similar 42:9
simply 25:17
Sims 50:11,12
sir 4:20 7:23
 12:15,21 16:15
 27:14
sits 35:21
sitting 5:6,8
 16:23 19:17
 20:12
situation 25:6
 26:12 42:9
situations 25:21
 27:3 34:8
six 9:16,19
 14:21 16:23

sixth 8:6
slash 27:18
slightly 17:1
Small 40:7
snitch 34:23
snitching 34:21
somebody 47:3
somewhat 30:24
son 24:2
sorry 4:12 40:19
 48:24
Sounds 50:16
source 20:11
Southfield 38:2
Southwest 36:20
space 8:11
spaces 8:7
speak 24:20 26:7
SPEAKER 40:18
speaking 15:4
 24:11
Special 10:12
specific 16:21
 22:12 31:5
specifically
 5:16
spread 43:23
 44:1
SS 52:3
stabbed 27:18
stabilized 50:5
staff 4:22 5:3
 19:1 33:4
Staffing 8:23
stage 15:17
Standing 35:14
start 8:15,17
started 9:6
 19:21 20:21
 21:22 28:5,8
 28:19 30:2
 39:20
starting 20:16
state 1:1 11:18
 11:19 21:11,25
 36:4 52:2,6
statistics 31:5
stats 17:23 19:7
 31:3,3,13
stayed 43:25
steep 17:12
steepest 17:9

stenographically 13:9 21:2
 52:9
stepped 3:23
stigma 34:20
stopped 40:24
storage 46:15,16
Street 36:22
strong 33:9
structure 8:6
structured 32:24
Student 9:22
students 9:23
 28:18
submitted 12:22
success 17:18
 18:8 20:2
 27:23 29:15
 30:10
successful 16:6
 19:17
suffering 25:5,8
 28:11
suggestion 18:22
Summary 10:14
summer 33:22
Summit 22:10,25
 23:6 50:12,13
Supervising 5:9
support 6:3,21
 20:7 21:12,15
 25:9,10,12,17
 26:8,17,22,22
 26:24 27:15
 42:21,22
supported 6:5,23
 42:24 50:23,25
supportive 25:24
 26:5
supposed 46:17
sure 12:6 13:13
 18:25 20:8
 39:11 45:22
 46:25 47:21,25
 49:24
suspect 21:7
 22:1,1,2 33:7
 33:13
suspects 34:2
Swag 23:4
sworn 8:24,25
 9:15,21 10:6
 10:18 12:7

13:9 21:2

T

take 10:21 11:7
 11:9,12,13,14
 18:24 19:14
 20:3 21:8 34:9
 43:17 47:17
taken 1:16 43:8
 45:24 52:7,11
takes 31:10
talk 16:20 18:14
 25:4 32:11
 33:25 34:19
talked 21:17
 22:19 33:3
 44:16
talking 27:14
 28:7
target 10:14
 33:9
targeted 33:2
team 19:13 20:4
 21:4,18 27:17
tell 18:4 29:18
 30:7 32:21
 36:12
telling 38:25
tempo 39:2
ten 11:3 17:11
ten-week 9:24
terms 9:15 17:2
 29:5,8,11,13
 29:15 37:20
 49:22
test 11:4,5,11
 11:21,22,22,24
 15:4,5,8
tested 9:10
testing 9:7 11:3
 12:1
thank 3:10,13
 4:15,18,19,21
 5:1,20 7:23,24
 8:12 12:2
 13:12 14:2,7
 14:16,17 15:1
 15:18 16:10,14
 16:16,17,19
 20:4 24:3
 28:25 31:18
 32:5 35:2,11

35:11,13,19
 36:16 37:11
 39:7,9,12,15
 42:10 43:3,4
 45:17 48:8,22
 49:1,3,16
 50:16,17 51:3
thankful 48:21
theses 32:7
thing 8:14 24:25
 26:21 28:18
 30:11 33:19
 34:12
things 19:24
 22:19 25:8
 29:24
think 13:3,6
 24:13,13,16
 26:14 27:12,12
 27:23,25 37:20
 39:7
third 1:16 4:24
 8:5,9 21:25
 22:1
thought 7:12
 26:21 43:11,13
 46:21
threads 32:9
three 9:16 10:13
 17:2,4,20
 19:21 29:14,19
Thursday 1:20
 5:25 6:11
 36:19
time 3:7,11 4:19
 5:23 6:10 8:19
 10:22 14:24
 16:9 19:25
 23:9 25:18
 33:1 37:1
 41:16,17 43:4
 43:7,16 44:1
 52:8
times 18:16
 24:13 25:23
tips 21:23
today 5:12 8:1
 8:18 23:22
 26:3 37:21,23
 39:25 48:20
told 48:2
Toledo 21:12,13

tomorrow 5:18
 40:2,11
total 9:15,17
 10:10 16:8
 21:1
touch 50:15
tow 39:24 40:20
 40:21,24 41:11
 44:4,7,8 46:4
 46:12,13,13
 47:12,22,25
tower 44:7 45:1
 45:24,24 46:6
towers 42:8 44:1
 45:2,5 48:5
towing 39:19,21
 42:24 43:6,6
 44:9,11 45:21
 46:25 48:13
tragic 16:21
 20:19 21:16
transcript 52:11
transcription
 52:10
transition 29:25
transparent
 19:14
Tratt 49:5,7,14
 49:14,17 50:2
 50:17
trauma 25:3,13
 27:5 28:4,6,9
 28:11
trauma-like 27:3
traumatized
 25:14
Treasury 43:10
 43:18,23 44:2
 44:6,16
treat 28:6
tremendous 34:13
trending 17:21
trends 18:6
Tri-County 39:19
 40:21,23
true 34:21 52:10
try 38:18 50:1
trying 21:6
 22:12
tune 35:17
Turn 32:3
turned 43:9

twelve 10:6 16:9
40:7
two 9:19 10:10
17:25 18:20
19:16 21:21
26:19 28:17
29:14 35:22
37:3 42:15
48:19,20
type 38:24 39:6
44:18
types 9:11 29:9

U

U. S 30:18
Uh-huh 12:17
understand 28:4
34:9 45:2
understanding
46:22
unsuccessful
15:12
untrue 34:22
updates 10:2
31:8
upgrade 49:9
Urban 39:10
use 7:13,14 18:4
38:24
usually 8:7

V

vacant 27:19
Vann 2:8 3:8,11
4:5,6 6:2,19
7:15 12:5,11
12:13,16,18,24
13:3,12 14:15
24:5,6 27:14
38:22,23 45:18
45:19,20 46:4
46:8,20,24
47:5,10,20,24
48:9 49:1
50:23
various 10:12
vast 26:5 34:25
vehicle 46:16
version 37:20
versus 13:9
VICE 2:3 3:17
6:3 7:4,7,11

7:14,16,25
13:16,21 14:2
28:24 42:22
victim 18:14
video 22:16,19
22:20
videotape 21:18
21:19
view 29:23 33:16
views 22:17
violence 28:13
30:5
violent 16:24,25
17:8 20:11
33:12
viral 22:16
voice 38:23,24
39:2,6
volunteer 23:2,3

W

walk-by 33:5,20
want 14:14 16:20
16:20 20:2,4
21:8 22:4
28:25 32:2
34:3 36:4
41:21 43:21
45:22 46:24
48:4
wanted 12:6
17:14 19:11
20:17 23:10
46:20 47:24
48:4 49:1
wanting 22:22
war 25:6
Warren 29:6
Washington 42:2
42:4,5 44:23
44:24,24 50:14
wasn't 43:12
watched 23:18,19
watching 37:19
wave 17:18 18:7
way 8:12 30:19
Wayne 52:4,19
we'll 22:24 23:4
37:1 45:15
48:18,19
we're 8:19 10:7
16:23 17:1,2,4

17:5,11,20,22
19:8,9,15,16
19:17 22:2,14
22:23 23:8
30:20,22 32:4
32:11 35:17
37:6,6 48:14
we've 9:3 16:8
17:6 30:1
32:20
Webb 33:21
Wednesday 10:1
week 9:5,24
13:22 17:15
26:13 35:22
37:24
weekly 3:5
weeks 28:17
48:19,20
weight 24:8
welcome 3:4 5:22
35:3 37:10
went 29:9
weren't 43:15
West 36:21
Westside 27:19
30:1,4,21
whatsoever 44:4
44:18
white 38:12
Wies 31:1
Willie 2:3,6
3:16,20 7:7
wish 43:24
witness 29:8
woman 19:20
27:19
women 34:4
wondering 32:12
words 47:16
work 9:24 19:10
19:22 20:3,4,7
20:15 21:2,5
22:5,6 29:1,7
30:2 32:11
34:5,5 38:16
38:17,20 39:10
worked 22:23
25:10
working 21:3
26:25 29:10
works 19:19

29:24
worms 41:25
written 9:8
11:11,12,22
wrong 45:12

X

Y

Yacht 23:9
year 9:4 17:7
19:9 20:12,14
25:11 26:18
27:12 33:1,21
year's 17:23
year-to-date
16:23 17:3,10
19:8
years 17:20,25
18:1 19:21
29:14,19 32:22
39:21,22
yesterday 30:4
43:7
York 17:15 18:10
young 21:7 23:21
29:13 33:15
younger 22:21
youth 22:10,24
23:5 28:23
49:10 50:12,13
youth-based 23:3
youthful 28:7

Z

0

1

1 1:14
1:30 45:5
10 5:18
10,000 41:12
10:00 5:19
100 46:3,5,6,8
10th 10:1 36:25
112 17:3
115 17:3
11th 14:10
125 46:13
125.00 46:12
13-year-old

16:22 20:20
 26:13 33:15
13-year-one 24:2
1301 1:16
13th 37:6
14 21:19
14th 8:15,16
 36:24
15 46:14
15.00 46:15
15th 41:2,3,4
 46:19
16 41:6
187 9:3
1971 39:21
1st 52:20

2

2 3:2 35:9
2,000 32:25
2,294 8:24
20 13:5 39:21
2014 44:5,14
2015 8:23 17:3
 40:25 44:4,16
 45:15
2015/16 9:4
2015/2014 18:1
2015/2016 44:3
2016 1:20 3:2
 10:14 14:10
 17:7 36:19,24
 44:5
2018 52:20
21 20:13
212 8:25
215.00 46:12
23 10:10
24 11:4 21:5
 29:1 34:16
 44:1
25 10:7 46:5
250 15:21
26 6:12
26th 6:11 7:5
2nd 1:20 5:25
 38:7

3

3:04 1:19 3:3
30 17:12 21:12
31 9:23

31st 9:5
32 9:24
343 8:24
352 17:8
356 17:7
37 9:5,15 10:7
 12:7
39 32:22

4

4:04 51:4
47 18:1
4700 36:21
48226 1:18
4th 36:20

5

5 7:8
50 28:17
52 1:14
55 20:14
56 41:13
57 9:17
5th 29:2

6

6:30 36:20,24
66,000 41:9,12
6th 9:23

7

7042 52:18
75 45:6 46:5,13
 46:17
76 41:13
7th 26:18

8

8 37:9

9

9th 20:10,13
 29:7 36:19